2001

Jensen v. Jensen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Linda H. Jensen (“Wife”) appeals the Second Supplemental Decree of Divorce entered June 22, 2001. This Court’s jurisdiction is based upon Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(h).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A. Did the trial court err in summarily reversing its decision that an unequal property division was equitable in this case, without applying a correct legal standard as to the existence of “exceptional circumstances” and without making appropriate findings supporting its decision?

B. In failing to consider the issue of property division in its entirety following remand from the Court of Appeals, did the trial court err in treating marital property as Husband's separate property, and thus fail to divide the marital estate in half?

C. Did the trial court err in vacating in its entirety its award of alimony to Wife, and in failing to apply an appropriate legal standard to the issue of alimony?

D. Did the trial court err in attributing investment income to Wife?

E. Did the trial court err in ordering a refund of alimony previously paid?

Issues D and E are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Cummings v. Cummings*, 821 P.2d 472 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). Issues A, B, and C present questions of law and are reviewed for correctness. *Bingham v. Bingham*, 872 P.2d 1065 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). The issues were inherently part of the remand instructions from the Court of Appeals; however, they were also preserved at R. 524-40 and 571-75.

GOVERNING LAW

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations whose interpretation is determinative or of central importance, except as follows. At the time of trial, Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5 provided in pertinent part:

(7) (a) The court shall consider at least the following factors in determining alimony:

- (i) the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse;
- (ii) the recipient's earning capacity or ability to produce income;
- (iii) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support; and
- (iv) the length of the marriage.

(b) The court may consider the fault of the parties in determining alimony.

(c) As a general rule, the court should look to the standard of living, existing at the time of separation, in determining alimony in accordance with Subsection (7)(a). However, the court shall consider all relevant facts and equitable principles and may, in its discretion, base alimony on the standard of living that existed at the time of trial. In marriages of short duration, when no children have been conceived or born during the marriage, the court may consider the standard of living that existed at the time of the marriage.

(d) The court may, under appropriate circumstances, attempt to equalize the parties' respective standards of living.

(e) When a marriage of long duration dissolves on the threshold of a major change in the income of one of the spouses due to the collective efforts of both, that change shall be considered in dividing the marital property and in determining the amount of alimony. If one spouse's earning capacity has been greatly enhanced through the efforts of both spouses during the marriage, the court may make a compensating adjustment in dividing the marital property and awarding alimony.

(f) In determining alimony when a marriage of short duration dissolves, and no children have been conceived or born during the marriage, the court may consider restoring each party to the condition which existed at the time of the marriage.

1997 Utah Laws ch. 232.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. *Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.*

This divorce case was tried to Judge David S. Young of the Third District Court on October 28-30 and November 12, 1997. The court issued its Memorandum Decision, Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and Supplemental Decree of Divorce on January 19, 1999. (R. 196-246.) Wife appealed. (R. 300-02.) The Court of Appeals issued its decision July 7, 2000. 2000 UT App. 213 (unpublished). The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's exclusion of certain property from the marital estate,

but vacated the final property division and the award of alimony, and remanded those issues to the trial court for further consideration and additional findings.

In the initial decree, the trial court awarded some property acknowledged to be marital to Husband as separate property. This was one of the reasons the court awarded more than half of the remaining diminished “marital” estate to Wife. On remand following appeal, the court changed the property division to 50/50, but failed to restore that marital property to the marital estate before making its calculation. In addition, the court failed to properly consider the issue of “exceptional circumstances” that had been remanded to it by the Court of Appeals, and simply divided the modified marital estate 50/50.

Further, the trial court vacated the award of \$4,000 per month alimony, basing its decision in part on putative investment income of 7.5 percent that the court assumed, without evidence, could be earned on assets awarded to Wife. Those assets included \$125,000 that was paid as alimony under an agreement prior to entry of the final decree of divorce, that the trial court ordered refunded to Husband. The Second Supplemental Decree of Divorce was entered June 22, 2001. (R. 625-27.) Wife filed her Notice of Appeal July 20, 2001. (R. 630.)

B. *Statement of Facts.*

James T. Jensen (“Husband”) and Linda H. Jensen (“Wife”) were married in 1970 in Utah and had three children during the marriage, two of whom had reached the age of majority at the time of trial, and the other of whom was still in high school. (R. 1-2, R. 323 at pp. 5, 12-13.)

Wife was 51 years old at the time of trial. She attended college for three years before the marriage but upon Husband's request did not work outside the home during most of the parties' marriage. (R. 323 at pp. 6, 29, 120; R. 324 at p. 195.) In accord with his wishes, instead of working outside the home, Wife focused on maintaining the parties' domestic affairs and caring for their children. (R. 109; R. 323 at pp. 44-45.) The only exception to this is that she worked part-time from 1985 to 1990 at Husband's law office performing clerical work. (R. 323 at pp. 43, 89; R. 324 at pp. 196-97.)

Husband was 57 years old at the time of trial. He was admitted to the Utah State Bar in 1969, one year before the marriage. (R. 323 at p. 136.) He practiced law with his father, Therald Jensen, in Price, Utah, until 1990, when he became in-house counsel for Savage Industries. (R. 323 at pp. 7, 45.) He is currently Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Savage Industries. (R. 221.)

1. *The Marital Estate.*

Over the course of the twenty-seven year marriage, the parties acquired substantial assets and maintained a high standard of living. (R. 109; R. 323 at pp. 55-57.) They received property and other assets, through gift or inheritance, from each of their parents. (R. 109.) Wife's father gave the parties the land on which their first home was built, and Husband's father was the source of some of the ranch properties and part of the 88,493 shares of Zions Bank stock that was at issue between the parties. (R. 323 at pp. 37-38). These assets were commingled between the parties.

The ranch properties consist of three related assets: T-N Company, T-N Ranches, and Moynier. T-N Company is a partnership owned by Husband and his two brothers,

and it is the operating entity for the ranching property, owning cattle, equipment, and machinery associated with the ranch. (R. 323 at pp. 148-49.) T-N Ranches is a partnership owned by Husband and his three siblings; it owns some 35,000 acres of land in Carbon County, Utah, along with associated water rights and grazing permits. (R. 119; R. 323 at p. 164; Defendant's Exhibit 39; Plaintiff's Exhibit 11.) The Moynier property consists of 21,400 acres of land in Carbon, Duchesne, and Utah Counties, together with state and federal grazing permits covering some 100,000 acres of land, title to which is in the name of Husband and his two brothers. (R. 323 at pp. 157-62; R. 324 at pp. 180-81; Defendant's Exhibits 28 and 30.) T-N Company leases the entire T-N Ranches landholding and the Moynier property plus grazing rights for a nominal sum of \$1,000 per year. (R. 323 at p. 168.)

a. *The Moynier Ranch.*

The Moynier Ranch consists of 21,400 deeded acres of ranch land in Carbon, Duchesne and Utah Counties, as well as over 100,000 acres of federal and state grazing permits. (R. 323 at pp. 157-62; R. 324 at pp. 180-81; Defendant's Exhibit 30) It was acquired in 1976, well into the marriage, for approximately \$827,000. The \$25,000 down payment came from the parties' marital funds. (R. 82; R. 224.) The court found that the installment payments, were "paid for through the ranching operations or T.N. Company." (R. 223.) Husband admitted, however, that \$148,000 of the purchase price did not come from sales or exchanges of separate property. (R. 323 at p. 182.)

Husband would not express an opinion on the value of the Moynier Ranch, but his expert valued the parties' one-third interest at \$333,679. (R. 323 at p. 173; R. 324 at

p. 126.) The expert's opinion was based on an estimate from a real estate appraiser, Sam Sanders, whose wife works for Husband at Savage Industries. (R. 325 at p. 96.) However, the Utah County Assessor valued the Utah County portion of the Moynier property alone at \$3,370,000, and Husband did not protest this valuation. (R. 324 at p. 181; R. 325 at p. 84.) Wife's expert valued the Moynier Ranch at \$5,375,000, and the parties' one-third interest at \$1,791,667. (R. 324 at p. 35.) The trial court did not resolve the valuation dispute.

b. *T-N Ranches.*

T-N Ranches is a corporation formed in 1983. It owns the title to ranch property and grazing permits T-N Company uses at a token rental. (R. 323 at pp. 7, 166, 168.) Husband successfully contended at trial that the parties' 25 percent interest in T-N Ranches was his separate property.

Wife's expert valued the parties' 25% interest in T-N Ranches at \$1,312,500. (R. 323 at pp. 11, 164; R. 324 at pp. 32-33.) Husband's expert valued the parties' interest in T-N Ranches at \$127,208 (which translates to a land value of \$37 per acre), prior to application of an alleged minority interest discount. (R. 324 at pp. 131-32, 152-56.) The trial court did not resolve the valuation issue.

c. *T-N Company.*

T-N Company was formed in 1969 by Husband's father, Therald Jensen, and his three sons James, Butch and Jerry. (R. 78.) It initially owned construction equipment and cattle. (R. 323 at pp. 7, 35.) T-N Company still operates as a cattle business, but in 1997 much of the construction equipment was sold for \$900,000. (R. 323 at p. 149.) Out

of the remaining assets of T-N Company, the remaining equipment is worth approximately \$600,000, and the remaining cattle and other livestock are worth approximately \$1.1 million. (R. 323 at pp. 150-53.) T-N Company also owns several trucks and trailers and a shop building. (R. 325 at 18; Defendant's Exhibit 12.)

T-N Company leases over 35,000 acres of land, plus grazing permits, from T-N Ranches; and the 21,400 Moynier property and 100,000 acres of grazing rights, at the reduced rate of \$1,000 per year for the entire property, which works out to 1.8 cents per acre for the owned property and nothing for the leases and permits. (R. 323 at p. 168.)

According to the tax returns and equity accounts for T-N Company, Husband owns 49.29% of the company, and his two brothers own the remainder in equal shares. (R. 79; R. 324 at pp. 22-24, 80.) However, Husband claims the brothers made an oral "agreement" at some point that they each really own one-third of the company. (R. 324 at p. 108.) His two brothers receive yearly salaries from T-N Company, yet Husband has never drawn a salary from T-N Company, even though he spent as much time on the ranching operations as they did throughout the parties' marriage. (R. 323 at pp. 126, 148; R. 324 at pp. 199-202.) He also performed free legal work for T-N Company. (R. 324 at p. 202.)

Over the years, T-N Company required major cash subsidy in order to continue operating. In the early years, that subsidy came from Husband's father, who loaned a significant amount to T-N Company in exchange for promissory notes from the company. (R. 325 at pp. 87-88). Husband's father later gifted his interest in the promissory notes separately to Husband and Wife in \$10,000 annual increments each as part of his estate

planning. (R. 325 at pp. 87-88). By 1993, T-N Company owed Husband \$126,931 and Wife \$30,000. (R. 324 at p. 51). It owed Husband's law office \$78,348. (R. 324 at p. 51.) It also owed \$85,031 to Malpaso, a trucking company which was formed during the marriage and which was for that reason clearly a marital asset even though the stock was in Husband's name. (R. 323 at pp. 34-35, 174-75.) The funds Malpaso and Wife lent to T-N Company were used to purchase heavy machinery for T-N Company, which machinery was then used as collateral by the company to secure financing for additional growth and development. (R. 118.) In addition, Malpaso, a marital asset, was completely absorbed into T-N Company.

In 1993, Wife's \$30,000 in notes were converted into equity in T-N Company. (R. 324 at pp. 51-53; R. 325 at pp. 87-88.) The marital estate was never reimbursed for the other debts, which were absorbed as equity in T-N Company as well.

In early 1996, the parties sold \$65,000 of the Zions Bank stock they had acquired during the marriage and transferred the proceeds into T-N Company. (R. 323 at pp. 66, 81-82; R. 325 at p. 48; Plaintiff's Exhibit 7.)

The parties presented different values for T-N Company at trial. According to Wife's expert Deane Smith, T-N Company is worth \$2.2 million, and Husband's 49.29% share is worth \$1,066,000. (R. 323 at p. 132; R. 324 at p. 23.) Husband's expert Derk Rasmussen valued T-N Company at \$1.4 million. (R. 324 at pp. 140- 41.) The trial court did not resolve the valuation issue.

2. *The Trial Court's Property Division*

Depending upon which party's valuation of the ranching properties is accepted, the parties' assets were worth between \$8 and \$10 million at the time of trial. Initially, the trial court recognized that there were significant difficulties in sorting out the separate property from the marital property. Wife contended that all of the parties' property was marital, having either been acquired during the marriage, gifted into joint ownership during the marriage, or commingled with marital property. Husband contended that 58,352 shares of Zions Bank stock, worth \$3,027,010, was his separate property. He also contended that all of the ranch properties, worth between \$1.8 and \$4.2 million, were separate property.

The trial court for the most part agreed with Husband's characterization of the stock and ranch property as separate property. However, the court acknowledged that some marital assets had been commingled with the ranch properties. In part because of that fact, and in part because of the generally unequal financial position of the parties after a 27-year marriage, the trial court divided the parties' property as follows in the initial decree:

	<u>Value</u>	<u>To Husband</u>	<u>To Wife</u>
Marital Residence	\$ 771,000.00	0.00	771,000.00
Mortgage	-203,994.00	-203,994.00	0.00
Furniture	75,000.00	0.00	75,000.00
30,141 shares of Zions Bank stock	1,563,564.00	781,782.00	781,782.00
Price law office building	153,326.00	153,326.00	0.00
Vehicles	77,611.00	35,011.00	42,291.00
Certificate of deposit	28,925.00	0.00	29,500.00
1996 tax refund	21,543.00	21,058.00	0.00
John Hancock life policy	55,546.00	0.00	55,546.00
IRAs	33,085.00	16,543.00	16,543.00
Savage pension	206,774.27	103,387.00	103,387.00
Mantlepiece	10,000.00	10,000.00	0.00

40 acre parcel	45,000.00	0.00	45,000.00
Spring Glen home	<u>169,374.72</u>	<u>84,687.00</u>	<u>84,687.00</u>
Marital property	\$3,006,754.99	\$1,001,800.00	\$2,004,736.00
Separate property	<u>7,227,000.00</u>	<u>7,227,000.00</u>	<u>0.00</u>
TOTAL	<u>\$10,233,754.99</u>	<u>\$8,228,800.00</u>	<u>\$2,004,736.00</u>

Husband challenged the unequal division of marital property on appeal. The trial court's justification for the unequal division was:

Based on the Court's general equitable power, the Court finds that certain of these assets should not be divided equally to the parties, even though they were acquired during the course of the marriage and have been determined by the Court to constitute in part the marital estate. (R. 213.)

As noted above, there was significant and undisputed evidence that marital property had been commingled with the ranch properties. Rather than sort out the details of those transfers, the trial court relied upon the unequal division of property as rendering the final outcome "equitable." For example, the court found that \$25,000 appeared to have come from marital funds for the purchase of the Moynier Ranch. Rather than allocate that amount to Wife, the court stated:

The Court believes that it remains fair and equitable to allow James to retain the whole of the Jensen Brothers property assets and interests as separate property, and believes that an equitable offset of the \$25,000 which, if it came from marital funds, would be subject to sharing, has been equitably dealt with hereafter in relation to the other assets of the marital estate. (R. 201.)

Similar reasoning caused the court to ultimately ignore substantial evidence of commingling, because the court believed that the final outcome would be equitable.

The Court of Appeals decided that the trial court's explanation for the unequal division of property was insufficient, and remanded the case for additional findings:

The trial court's findings on remand must be "sufficiently detailed and include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusion on [this] factual issue was reached." 2000 UT App 213 at pp. 3-4.

On remand, instead of detailing the reasons for its previous decision, the trial court changed its decision, awarding Husband an additional \$501,468 of property from the diminished marital estate that had previously been found by the court. This equalized the table of property the court had initially generated, but failed to remedy the award of marital property to Husband as part of the ranch properties. The court expressed the view that the Court of Appeals had imposed a mathematical approach which resulted in an unfair outcome. It noted that there was no appellate guidance on the meaning of “exceptional circumstances,” and concluded that exceptional circumstances justifying an unequal division of marital property did not exist. In doing so, it applied a dictionary definition of “exceptional:”

The Court finds that while neither party has cited to the Court precedent defining the terms “exceptional circumstances” in the context of justification for an unequal division of the marital estate, clearly those terms include deviation from the norm, higher than average, atypical, uncommon, extraordinary, or similar meanings and concepts. The Court further finds that while the Petitioner has detailed in her Memorandum various circumstances she deems to be exceptional, they do not singly or in combination justify the division of the marital estate between the parties on other than an equal basis. As such, no exceptional circumstances exist which would justify the division of the marital estate between the parties on other than an equal basis. (R. 618.)

To accomplish the redistribution, the court made several adjustments. In the time between trial and remand, the marital residence had been sold and Wife had paid off the mortgage from the sale proceeds. The mortgage had been placed in Husband’s column in the initial property division, so the equalizing amount of \$501,468 was reduced by the amount of the mortgage payoff of \$182,535. (R. 619.) Husband had made payments to Wife for the mortgage after it was paid off of \$26,488, and that amount was ordered re-

funded to Husband. The resulting amount was \$345,421. The trial court then ordered Wife to pay Husband interest on that amount at 7.5 percent per year, or an additional \$49,833. (R. 619-20.) Thus, the trial court ordered Wife to transfer \$395,254 to Husband. This was accomplished by transfer of 7,619.3542 shares of Zions Bank stock from Wife to Husband, leaving Wife with 7,451 shares of Zions Bank stock. (R. 620.)

3. *Alimony.*

Prior to the entry of the Supplemental Decree in January of 1999, Husband had voluntarily paid Wife \$6,000 per month as temporary alimony pursuant to an agreement that relieved the parties of the necessity of having the issue of temporary alimony resolved by the court. By agreeing to pay \$6,000 in temporary alimony in a form not taxable to Wife, Husband acknowledged that her living expenses were at least \$6,000 per month, and the lower court noted this as a factor supporting alimony. (R. 215.)

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