2001

Linda H. Jensen v. James T. Jensen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Dissatisfied with this Court's denial of her appeal in the Jensen Appeal I, Wife filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the Utah Supreme Court. That Writ was summarily denied. R. 480-80A. This Court's mandate to the trial court on remand in Jensen Appeal I was crystal clear, divide the marital estate according to *Burt*, including the determination of any "exceptional circumstances", and thereafter proceed to determine the viability of an alimony award, if any. Notwithstanding that mandate, Wife in essence would like to start over and have this Court preside over the divorce as if no trial had occurred. That is neither the function nor the proper use of the Utah appellate court system.

The parade of horrors encompassing Wife's brief begins with the five issues she states as the basis for her appeal. While three of those issues are properly before this Court, the other two are not. Wife, however, does not confine herself to the five stated issues but argues some ten issues on appeal within the body of her brief. Those issues are similarly not properly before this Court. Only two issues were before the trial court on remand, i.e., division of the marital estate and alimony. Those are the only two issues before this Court on appeal.

On remand, Wife argued that the trial court should take no new evidence. The trial court agreed with her. Wife at no time during the trial or thereafter, until the filing of her recent appellate brief, objected to the imputation of income to her as a minimum wage, as to income producing assets, or otherwise. Wife continued to utilize the 7.5 percent rate of return applied to the income producing marital assets. Wife objected to only one issue in the Second Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the judgement awarded

to Husband for alimony paid. Wife's appeal in this case reflects her attempt to re-litigate everything including the proverbial "kitchen sink" and as such, is grossly in error.

This Court affirmed the trial court's characterization of separate and marital property. Thus, the only issue before the trial court on remand was the division of the already determined marital estate which it correctly divided on an equal basis.

The trial court followed *Burt* and found that no exceptional circumstances existed justifying other than an equal division of the marital estate. Contrary to Wife's assertions, *Burke* is not the bright-line test to determine "exceptional circumstances" and as such the trial court made correct findings and did not abuse its discretion in its ruling on this issue. *See, generally Burke v. Burke*, 733 P.2d 133 (Utah 1987). The trial court followed this Court's mandate on remand and applying Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(7) found Wife demonstrated no need for alimony. Thus, the trial court properly awarded no alimony.

Trial courts may properly consider investment income in determining a recipient spouse's need for alimony, if any. The ability to generate income from income producing assets bears directly on a recipient spouse's ability to meet financial needs. Thus, the trial court correctly considered the income to Wife from the income producing assets she was awarded in the division of the marital estate. That notwithstanding, Wife failed to preserve this issue in the court below and is precluded from asserting this issue for the first time on appeal.

Finally, when this Court reversed and remanded the trial court's award of alimony, the case stood in the lower court as if no trial had been had on that issue in the first instance. As such, the trial court correctly determined that Husband was entitled to a judgment for alimony previously paid.

This Court should adhere to and apply its decision in Jensen Appeal I, a decision that if error were to be found would have been considered and decided by the Utah Supreme Court. That Court denied Wife's Petition for Writ of Certiorari. This Court should affirm the trial court's division of the marital estate and award of no alimony and dismiss Wife's appeal outright.

ARGUMENT

I. WIFE HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE.

Wife's recitation of certain of the trial court's findings on remand and her blatant attempt to reargue her case on appeal fall far short of meeting her burden to marshal the evidence. That failure is not a minor "blip" on the radar screen of the appellate process, but a nuclear missile which sinks her appeal. Accordingly, under well-settled Utah law, this Court must assume the record supports the findings of the trial court.

A critical and fundamental requirement when challenging a trial court's findings of fact is to marshal the evidence supporting those findings. *See Moon v. Moon*, 1999 UT App 12, ¶ 24.

The marshaling process is not unlike becoming the devil's advocate. Counsel must extricate himself or herself from the client's shoes and fully assume the adversary's position. In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence. The gravity of this flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court's finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous.

Id. (citations omitted). An appellant who merely reargues her position on appeal fails to meet her duty and burden. *See Schaumberg v. Schaumberg*, 875 P. 2d 598, 603 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). An appellant similarly fails to marshal the evidence on appeal when she merely recites the findings on point and highlights the evidence she deems contrary to the findings.

See Marshall v. Marshall, 915 P. 2d 508, 516 (Utah Ct. App. 1996); *see also Thomas v. Thomas*, 987 P. 2d 603, 606 n.3 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

In the case *sub judice*, Wife does not assume the role of devil's advocate, but rather that of the jilted petitioner listing a multitude of self-serving reasons she disagrees with the trial court's findings. Wife's inability to extricate herself from her own shoes and marshal the evidence serves no purpose other than to divert the Court's attention from the only two issues before the trial court on remand, i.e., division of the marital estate and alimony. Wife has not presented in "comprehensive and fastidious order every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings [she] resists[.]" rather Wife fails in certain instances to even recite these findings on the two issues remanded to the trial court. Wife utterly fails to point in the record to the avalanche of evidence in support of the trial court's decision to divide the marital estate equally and to award no alimony. Moreover, Wife's arguments presented in her brief do nothing more than prove the fatal flaws in her argument. Flaws recognized by the trial court to be contrary to fundamental principles governing divorces.

Wife has no reluctance or hesitation to thoroughly recount her own unsupported testimony and the testimony of her expert at the trial that Husband's separate property was commingled with marital property and therefore, lost its identity as separate property. *See App.'s Brief*, pp. 5-13. Her claim failed in the Jensen Appeal I and must fail now. Wife declares to this Court that the trial court did not resolve the issue of values on Husband's separate property, but refuses to acknowledge that when the trial court identified and awarded separate property, under *Burt* and *Mortensen*, those values are irrelevant. *See App.'s Brief*, pp. 6-7. Wife gratuitously states the "trial court for the most part agreed with Husband's characterization of the stock and ranch property as separate property." *App.'s Brief*, p. 10. Wife, however, chooses to ignore over sixty (60) pages of testimony supporting

the characterization of Husband's property as separate, and over seven (7) pages of detailed findings by the trial court on Husband's separate property. *See Statement of Fact (SOF)* ¶11.

Moreover, Wife asserts that the trial court on remand, rather than making detailed findings in support of its original decision, changed its decision, and applied a dictionary definition of "exceptional circumstances." *See App.'s Brief*, p. 12. Wife again, turns her back on the Record evidence diametrically opposed to her argument to the trial court that *Burke* is in essence the bright line test to determine exceptional circumstances. Wife's statements also fly in the face of the trial court's exacting statements and findings that it considered Wife's arguments, both in writing and at the hearing on remand, and found that no exceptional circumstances existed to warrant other than an equal division of the marital estate. *See SOF*, ¶11.

On the issue of alimony, Wife merely regurgitates the reasons the trial court awarded alimony in the first instance, and claims the trial court changed its mind on remand without an evidentiary basis. *See App.'s Brief*, pp.14-16. Wife once again presents an incomplete picture. Wife herself argued that the trial court should not take new evidence on remand as the evidence presented at the trial in the first instance was sufficient. *See supra note 7*. The truth is that the trial court made detailed findings on the issue of alimony and Wife had no demonstrated unmet financial need. *See SOF*, ¶¶12, 15.

Wife's diversion into the validity of the trial court applying a reasonable rate of return to income producing assets, is belied by the fact that she herself utilized that rate of return in later papers filed with the court and did not specifically appeal that issue to this Court. *See supra page 5 8 n.3*. Wife also fails even to engage in the "mere recitation" of the trial court's Second Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law with the exception of the trial court's findings on Wife's ability to meet her needs. *See App.'s Brief*, p. 14. Wife utterly fails to assume her role as devil's advocate and candidly admit to the Court that

the income produced from Wife's share of the marital estate met any financial need she had to maintain the standard of living she enjoyed during the parties' marriage. *See SOF*, ¶¶ 16.

Clearly, Wife has not met her burden to marshal the evidence on appeal. She did not play "devil's advocate" and in fact she indefatigably continues to reargue not only her case in its entirety, but highlights her arguments on appeal to this Court in Jensen Appeal I, which this Court rejected. R. 358-61. Wife's position is the best example of "if first you don't succeed" Accordingly, Wife's failure to marshal the evidence renders this Court's task to that of determining whether the trial court on remand followed its specific and mandate directions. Once this Court determines the trial court fulfilled its mandate, the trial court's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and its decision must be affirmed.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DIVIDED THE PARTIES' MARITAL
PROPERTY EQUALLY WHERE NO EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES EXIST
TO DIVIDE THE PROPERTY OTHERWISE.**

Both Husband and Wife made substantial contributions to the marriage: he in working eleven (11) and twelve (12) hour days, five (5) and six (6) days a week at his law practice and later as Vice-President and general counsel at Savage Industries to build the parties' economic coffers and to provide the family with economic stability and a commensurate standard of living; she by helping to run the household and raising the parties' children. Together, over their twenty-eight (28) year marriage, the parties amassed a marital estate approximating \$3,000,000. The parties have been rewarded for each of their contributions to the marriage by receiving one-half the estate they built together. Any division other than on an equal basis does nothing more than devalue Husband's substantial contribution to the marriage and penalize him for owning separate property. Such a result is not and cannot be supported under any equitable or legal principle.

Contrary to Wife's innuendos, Utah does not have a bright line test to determine what constitutes "exceptional circumstances" sufficient to overcome the presumption that the

marital estate must be divided on an equal basis. Although Wife argues the *Burke* factors, which are considered in *any* property division, serve as such a bright line test, such is absolutely not the case.

Husband concedes that no Utah case defines “exceptional circumstances” in the context of divorce. However, several Utah cases provide trial courts with guidance in determining whether and what exceptional circumstances may exist. Perhaps most instructive are the cases of *Mortensen* and *Elman*.

Wife argued in her brief that *Mortensen v. Mortensen*, 760 P. 2d 304 (Utah 1988) allows a court to consider the award of separate property to one spouse when fashioning an equitable division of the marital estate. *Mortensen*, however, holds directly to the contrary. The *Mortenson* Court explained that although it may be appropriate in some instances to award one party’s separate property to the non-donee spouse, *where the non-donee spouse has somehow participated in the enhancement, augmentation, or protection of the separate property*,

in making [the division of the marital estate], *the donee or heir spouse should not lose the benefit of his or her gift or inheritance by the trial court’s automatically or arbitrarily awarding the other spouse an equal amount of the remaining property which was acquired by their joint efforts to offset the gifts or inheritance.* Any significant disparity in the division of the remaining property should be based on an equitable rationale other than on the sole fact that one spouse is awarded his or her gifts or inheritances. . . These rules will preserve and give effect to the right that married persons have always had in this state to separately own and enjoy property. It also accords with the normal intent of donors or deceased persons that their gifts and inheritances should be kept within their family and succession should not be diverted because of divorce.

Id. at 305-08 (affirming property division based on the parties’ stipulation that wife received no interest in husband’s retirement account, a clearly marital asset, in exchange for two-thirds of estate that included certain stock in husband’s separate family property) (emphasis added).

Thus, it defies reason and logic to try to understand how Wife can argue that the trial court was correct in awarding her (and penalizing Husband) a disproportionately greater portion of the marital estate. Awarding one spouse separate property, even significant separate property simply cannot be an “exceptional circumstance” under applicable law. *See Burt v. Burt*, 799 P. 2d 1166, 1168-69 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

This Court further opined on the types of “exceptional circumstances” that warrant an unequal or disproportionate division of the marital estate in the very recent case of *Elman v. Elman*, 2002 UT App 83. In so doing, this Court implicitly rejected Wife’s claimed exceptional circumstances.

In *Elman*, this Court determined that the trial court had appropriately awarded wife an offset, i.e. a disproportionate share of the marital estate, for three years during the parties’ thirteen year marriage where wife’s sole management of all of the parties’ marital estate freed husband to quit his lucrative job and work full-time to increase the value of his partnerships all to the exclusion of any other work or contribution to the marriage. *See id.* at ¶44. Thus wife’s marital labor *solely* increased the value of the marital estate, and husband’s marital labor *solely* increased the value of his partnerships, his separate property. *See id.* at ¶¶ 8, 20, 26, 29 (affirming lower court’s determination that husband’s partnership interests were separate premarital property, not commingled, enhanced or protected by wife in any meaningful way, but increased in value due to wife’s sole care for marital estate allowing husband to have no job and give sole and maximum efforts to his separate property).

Pointedly, in *Elman* this Court specifically explained that the payment of a legitimate business expense related to the value or use of an inherited or premarital assets does not convert that asset or any portion thereof into a marital asset. *See id.* at ¶25 n.6. The facts of *Elman*, i.e., the “exceptional circumstances” found there, were specifically and

unequivocally distinguished from the types of exceptional circumstances claimed by Wife in the instant case. This Court stated,

[w]e emphasize that this is not the normal circumstance where a spouse reviews premarital stock holdings and makes investment decisions, devoting a few hours to such management, while maintaining a normal occupation. This situation involves the very unique facts as to Husband's time spent managing premarital property and Wife's active efforts increasing the value of the marital property.

Id. at ¶24 n.5 (emphasis added).

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